# Nebraska Internship Consortium in Professional Psychology

**NICPP**

**Intern Handbook 2025-2026**

****

NICPP is accredited by the American Psychological Association (APA) and is a member of the Association of Psychology Postdoctoral

and Internship Centers (APPIC).

\*Questions related to the program’s accredited status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation American Psychological Association

750 1st Street, NE, Washington, DC 20002

Phone: (202) 336-5979 / E-mail: apaaccred@apa.org

Web: www.apa.org/ed/accreditation

**Table of Contents**

[Nebraska Internship Consortium in Professional Psychology 9](#_bookmark0)

[List of NICPP Interns 2025-2026 9](#_bookmark1)

[Monthly NICPP Seminars 11](#_bookmark2)

[Seminar Schedule 12](#_bookmark4)

[NICPP Internship Requirements 12](#_bookmark5)

[Intern Governance, Committees and Peer Support 14](#_bookmark6)

[Accommodations for Interns with disabilities 15](#_bookmark7)

[Grievance and Due Process Procedures 15](#_bookmark8)

[Intern Support Services 16](#_bookmark9)

[Preparation for and Integration of Seminar Information 16](#_bookmark10)

[Student Membership in APA Divisions 16](#_bookmark11)

[Intern File Retention 17](#_bookmark12)

[Interns stipends and earned income in addition to NICPP stipend 17](#_bookmark13)

[Board of Supervisors Structure 17](#_bookmark14)

[Final Comments 19](#_bookmark15)

[NICPP Intern Goals and Evaluations 19](#_bookmark16)

[NICPP Intern Evaluation 20](#_bookmark17)

[Competency Management Plan 21](#_bookmark18)

[Intern Evaluation of Programming and Supervision 22](#_bookmark19)

[Nebraska Internship Consortium in Professional Psychology Supervision, Evaluation, and Due Process Policies and](#_bookmark20) [Procedures 23](#_bookmark20)

[Intern Rights and Responsibilities 23](#_bookmark21)

[Intern Rights 23](#_bookmark22)

[Intern Responsibilities 24](#_bookmark23)

[Supervision 25](#_bookmark24)

[The Evaluation Process 25](#_bookmark25)

[Communication with Interns’ Home Graduate Programs 26](#_bookmark26)

[Due Process in Evaluation and Remediation 26](#_bookmark27)

[Definitions 27](#_bookmark28)

[Procedural Guidelines 28](#_bookmark29)

[Failure to Correct Problems 30](#_bookmark30)

[Immediate suspension of an Internship 31](#_bookmark31)

[Intern Challenge and Grievance Procedures 32](#_bookmark32)

[Staff Allegation of Intern Violations of Standards 33](#_bookmark33)

[Interns’ Procedures for Registering Concerns or Complaints 34](#_bookmark34)

[Interns’ Rights during Due Process and Grievance 36](#_bookmark35)

[Due Process Documentation 37](#_bookmark36)

[Due Process Documentation – Follow-Up 38](#_bookmark37)

[NICPP Policy Statement on Interns Who Experience Conflicts Working with Diverse Clients/Patients 39](#_bookmark38)

[NICPP Commitment to Multiculturalism and Diversity Competence in Training 40](#_bookmark39)

[Training Director and Administrative Commitment 40](#_bookmark40)

[NICPP Seminars 40](#_bookmark41)

[Agency Specific Commitment 41](#_bookmark42)

[APA Inclusive Language Guidelines 2022 41](#_bookmark43)

[Project Implicit: A Validated Tool to Measure your Degree of Unconscious Bias 41](#_bookmark44)

**Nebraska Internship Consortium in Professional Psychology**

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **NICPP Board of Supervisors** | |
| **Matt Gormley, Ph.D.** NICPP Co-Training Director Educational Psychology 114 Teacher’s College  University of Nebraska-Lincoln Lincoln, NE 68588-0308  Direct: 402.472.2223  [bdoll2@unl.edu](mailto:bdoll2@unl.edu)  **Kellan Willet**  NICPP Program Coordinator  41 Teacher’s College Hall University of Nebraska- Lincoln Lincoln NE 68588-0345  402.472.1152  402.472.5889 Fax  [**kwillet3@unl.edu**](mailto:kwillet3@unl.edu)  **Tricia Besett-Alesch, Ph.D.**  CAPS Co-Training Director 550 N. 19th Street,  UHCN, Ste 223  PO Box 880618  Lincoln, NE 68588  Direct: 402.472-7450  Fax: 402.472-6977  [tbesett-alesch2@unl.edu](mailto:tbesett-alesch2@unl.edu)  **Natalie Jensen,**  Boys Town Training Director 13460 Walsh Drive  Boys Town, NE 68010  Direct: 531.355.3046  Email: [natalie.jensen@boystown.org](mailto:natalie.jensen@boystown.org) | **Allison Grennan, Ph.D.**  NICPP Co-Training Director  MMI Psychology Department/UNMC 985450 Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 68198-5450  Office: 402.559.6408  Direct: 402.559.4427  Fax: 402.559.6864  [allison.grennan@unmc.edu](mailto:allison.grennan@unmc.edu) |
| **Summer Bleich, Ph.D.** CAPS Co-Training Director 550 N. 19th Street,  UHCN, Ste 223  PO Box 880618  Lincoln, NE 68588  Direct: 402.472-7450  Fax: 402.472-6977  [summer.bleich@unl.edu](mailto:summer.bleich@unl.edu) |
| **Tessa Svoboda, Psy.D.**  DHHS Training Director 3000 Lincoln Blvd. Beatrice NE 68310  General: 402.223.6600  Direct: 402.239.2947  Fax: 402.223.7560  Email: [tessa.svoboda@nebraska.gov](mailto:tessa.svoboda@nebraska.gov) |
| **Peter Martin**, PsyD.  IHMCC Director of Integrated Training and Formation  3700 Sheridan Blvd. Ste. 1  Lincoln, NE 68506  Direct: 402.489.1834  Fax: 402.489.2046  Email[:pmartin@ihmcounseling.org](mailto:pmartin@ihmcounseling.org) |

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **Belinda Hinojos, Ph.D.**  Morningstar Training Director 2641 S. 70th, Suite A  Lincoln, NE 68506  Office: 402.327.9711  Fax: 402.475.0380  [dr.hinojos@morningstar-counseling.com](mailto:dr.hinojos@morningstar-counseling.com) | **Adam Mills, Ph.D** NMPD Training Director 4350 Emile Street  984185 Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 68198-4185  Office: 402.559.5031  Fax: 402.559.9592  Email: [cepoon@nebraskamed.com](mailto:cepoon@nebraskamed.com) |

**Kathy Dervin, Ph.D.** QLI Training Director 6404 N 70th Plaza Omaha, NE 68104

Office: 402.573.3700

Direct: 402.573.2162

Fax: 402.573.3790

Email: [kathy.dervin@qliomaha.com](mailto:kathy.dervin@qliomaha.com)

[u](mailto:kchiou2@unl.edu)

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **University of Nebraska-Lincoln Representatives** | |
| **Mun Yuk Chin, Ph.D.**  NICPP Board Member (nonvoting)  Assistant Professor,Educational Psychology  234 Teacher’s College University of Nebraska-Lincoln Lincoln NE 68588-0308  Direct: 402.472.2223  Email: [munyuk.chin@unl.edu](mailto:mscheel2@unl.edu) | **Kathy Chiou, Ph.D.**  NICPP Board Member (nonvoting) Assistant Professor, Psychology 218 Burnett Hall  University of Nebraska-Lincoln Lincoln NE 68588-0308  Direct: 402.472.5843  Email: [kchiou2@unl.ed](mailto:kchiou2@unl.edu) |
| **Susan M. Swearer, Ph.D.**  NICPP Board Member (nonvoting) Chair, Educational Psychology  114 Teacher’s College Hall  University of Nebraska-Lincoln Lincoln NE 68588-0308  Direct: 402.472.2223  Email: [sswearernapolitano1@unl.edu](mailto:sswearernapolitano1@unl.edu) |  |

**S** C 55 P

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
|  | **NICPP Agencies** |
| **Counseling and Psychological Services (CAPS) University of Nebraska-Lincoln** | |
| **ummer Bleich, Ph.D.**  APS Co-Training Director  0 N. 19th Street, UHCN, Ste 223 O Box 880618  ncoln, NE 68588  rect: 402.472-7450  ax: 402.472-6977  [bleich2@nebraska.edu](mailto:sbleich2@nebraska.edu) | **Tricia Besett-Alesch Ph.D., LP Annette Contreras**  CAPS Co-Training Director CAPS Office Manager  550 N. 19th Street, UHCN, Ste 223 550 N. 19th Street, UHCN Ste 223  PO Box 880618 PO Box 880618  Lincoln, NE 68588 Lincoln, NE 68588  Direct: 402.472-7450  Fax: 402.472-6977 Direct: 402.472-7450  [tbesett-alesch2@nebraska.edu](mailto:tbesett-alesch2@nebraska.edu) Fax: 402.472-6977  [Email:](mailto:acontreras3@unl.edu) [acontreras3@nebraska.ed](mailto:acontreras3@nebraska.edu)u |
| **Department of Health and Human Services** | |
| **Tessa Svoboda, Psy.D.** DHHS Training Director 3000 Lincoln Blvd.  Beatrice NE 68310  General: 402.223.6600  Direct: 402.239.2947  Fax: 402.223.7560  Email: [tessa.svoboda@nebraska.gov](mailto:tessa.svoboda@nebraska.gov) | |
| **Boys Town Center for Behavioral Health** | |
| **Natalie Jenson, Ph.D.** Boys Town Training Director 13460 Walsh Drive  Boys Town, NE 68010 Direct: 531.355.7908  Email:  [natalie.jensen@boystown.org](mailto:natalie.jensen@boystown.org) | **Zach Myers, Ph.D.**  Boys Town Associate Training Director 13460 Walsh Drive  Boys Town, NE 68010  Direct: 531.355.7909  Email: [zach.myers@boystown.org](mailto:zach.myers@boystown.org) |

Li Di F

[s](mailto:sbleich2@nebraska.edu)

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **Immaculate Hear of Mary Counseling Center**  **Peter Martin**, PsyD.  IHMCC Director of Integrated Training and Formation  3700 Sheridan Blvd. Ste. 1  Lincoln, NE 68506  Direct: 402.489.1834  Fax: 402.489.2046  Email: [pmartin@ihmcounseling.org](mailto:pmartin@ihmcounseling.org) | |
| **Morningstar Counseling and Consultation**  **Jaynee Bohart, Ph.D.**  Morningstar Training Director 2641 S. 70th, Suite A  Lincoln, NE 68506  Office: 402.327.9711  Fax: 402.475.0380  [dr.bohart@morningstar-counseling.com](mailto:dr.bohart@morningstar-counseling.com) | |
| **Munroe Meyer Institute** | |
| **Allison Grennan, Ph.D.**  NICPP Co-Director Training Director MMI Psychology Department/UNMC  98450 Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 68198-5450  Office: 402.559.6408  Direct: 402.559.4427  Fax: 402.559.6864  Email: [allison.grennan@unmc.edu](mailto:allison.grennan@unmc.edu) | **Nancy Foster, Ph.D.**  MMI Assistant Training Director Coordinator, Rural and Collaborating Sites Programs  Email: [nlfoster@unmc.edu](mailto:nlfoster@unmc.edu) |
| **Lynda Hayes, Ph.D**  MMI Assistant Training Director Coordinator, Behavioral Pediatrics and Integrated Care Program  and Lifespan Developmental Disabilities Program Email: [Lynda.hayes@unmc.edu](mailto:Lynda.hayes@unmc.edu) |  |

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **Brenda Bassingthwaite, Ph.D.**  MMI Assistant Training Director Coordinator, School-Based Mental Health Programs  Email: [b.bassingthwaite@unmc.edu](mailto:b.bassingthwaite@unmc.edu) | **Christi Ives**  Administrative Associate for Training 98450 Nebraska Medical Center  Omaha NE 68198-5450  Office: 402.559.6408  Email: [cives@unmc.edu](mailto:kristi.king@unmc.edu) |
| **Nebraska Medicine Psychology Department** | |
| **Justin Weeks, Ph.D.**  NMPD Associate Training Director 4350 Emile Street  984185 Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 68198-4185  Office: 402.559.5031  Fax: 402.559.9592  Email: [juweeks@nebraskamed.com](mailto:cepoon@nebraskamed.com)  **Jessica Grathwol** Administrative Assistant 4350 Emile Street  984185 Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 68198-4185  Office: 402.559.5031  Fax: 402.559.9592  Email: [jgrathwol@nebraskamed.com](mailto:jgrathwol@nebraskamed.com) | **Adam Mills, Ph.D.**  NMPD Co-Training Director 4350 Emile Street  984185 Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 68198-4185  Office: 402.559.5031  Fax: 402.559.9592  Email: [admills@nebraskamed.com](mailto:admills@nebraskamed.com)  **Adam Mills, Ph.D.**  **NMPD Co-Training Director 4350 Emile Street**  **984185 Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 68198-4185**  **Office: 402.559.5031**  **Fax: 402.559.9592**  **Email:** [**amitwaruciu@nebraskamed.com**](mailto:amitwaruciu@nebraskamed.com)  **Coral Hunt** Administrative Assistant 4350 Emile Street  984185 Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 68198-4185  Office: 402.559.5031  Fax: 402.559.9592  Email: [coclark@nebraskamed.com](mailto:coclark@nebraskamed.com) |
| **QLI** |  |

**Kathy Dervin, Ph.D.** QLI Training Director 6404 N 70th Plaza Omaha, NE 68104

Office: 402.573.3700

Direct: 402.573.2162

Fax: 402.573.3790

Email: [kathy.dervin@qliomaha.com](mailto:kathy.dervin@qliomaha.com)

**Nebraska Internship Consortium in Professional Psychology** **List of NICPP Interns 2025-2026**

|  |  |  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- | --- | --- |
| **SITE** | **FIRST NAME** | **LAST NAME** | **SITE** | **FIRST NAME** | **LAST NAME** |
|  | | |  | | |
| **IHMCC** Ryan Alemao  **DHHS** Maria Aliberti  **BT-OUT** Aliza Baker **MMI-BPIC** Elizabeth Brower **MMI-IABA** Sarah Butt  **MMI-ABA** Braden Calving  **BT-OUT** Faith Elizabeth Hamilton  **NMPD** Elizabeth Engelkamp **MMI-BPIC** Zelda Fleming **MMI-IABA** Caroline Gaglio **MMI-SBMHS** Patrick Gipson  **MMI-BPIC** Farya Haider  **BT-OUT** Emily Hanlon  **MMI-NORTH** Taylor Harris  **M-STAR** Emma Harrison  **MMI-SBMHS** Rylee Hendricks  **IHMCC** Donica Hilario  **MMI-RURAL** Taylor Hitchings  **MMI-IABA** Erica Hoover  **BT-OUT** Thomas Koza  **DHHS** Parker Krain | | | **CAPS** Catalina Kuenzi  **MMI-SBMHS** Chun-an Liu  **BT-OUT** Maxwell Luber  **CAPS** Andrew Manocchio  **BT-OUT** Mary Beth Morgan  **MMI-BPIC** Kristen Newell  **M-STAR** Natalie Ovalle  **MMI-BPIC** Eric Phillips  **MMI-BPIC** Michaela Pierson  **MMI-BPIC** Carsyn Popper  **MMI-BPIC** Jason Schwartz  **MMI-WEST** Savannah Senger  **BT-OUT** Kara Snider  **MMI-BPIC** Hannah Terrell  **CAPS** Caitlin Tycz  **QLI** Alexandra Uhren  **MMI-LDDB** Hannuja Vijayan  **MMI-BPIC** Jonie Welland  **MMI-IABA** Camila Wever  **IHMCC** Angel Winter  **MMI-SBMHS** Tiffany Wright | | |

Welcome to the Nebraska Internship Consortium in Professional Psychology (NICPP). The NICPP is comprised of eight cooperating agencies that together offer a broad range of professional experiences for qualified doctoral students in psychology. The mission of the NICPP is to provide psychology interns with intensive professional training experiences within the context of a scientist-practitioner model. NICPP specializes in training professional psychology with child, adolescent, college students, and family interests The NICPP agencies are the Department of Health and Human Services of Nebraska, Boys Town, Immaculate Heart of Mary Counseling Center / IHMCC, Counseling and Psychological Services at the University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Morningstar Counseling and Consultation, Munroe-Meyer Institute of the University of Nebraska Medical Center, Nebraska Medicine Psychology Department, and Quality Living Institute. Interns are required to adhere to the NICPP and the agency procedures/policies. The internship is one full year (12 months/2000 hours) in duration.

NICPP is accredited by the American Psychological Association (APA) and is a member of the Association of Psychology Postdoctoral and Internship Centers (APPIC). The NICPP completed the APA re-accreditation process in 2016 and was granted full accreditation by APA for seven years. The APA Self Study for re-accreditation was submitted in February 2024 with a site visit scheduled for Fall 2025. NICPP accepts applications from APA-accredited school, counseling, and clinical psychology doctoral programs in the United States and Canada. The defining feature of the NICPP as a consortium is its commitment to comprehensive and coordinated experiences. Interns are admitted to NICPP and are placed at an individual agency for the duration of the internship. Primary training experiences, responsibilities, and supervision are coordinated at individual agencies, with oversight by the NICPP Board of Supervisors.

Interns attend monthly seminars, have access to many professional development opportunities, and are supervised by an array of talented supervisors. <https://nicpp.unl.edu/>

The **major goal** of the NICPP is to provide an integrated, individually tailored, and coordinated series of learning experiences that will serve interns with opportunities to: (a) practice and expand on previously held knowledge and learned skills, (b) develop new skills and knowledge, and (c) experience personal and professional growth and development. These learning experiences will contribute to interns’ emergence as competent scientist- practitioners and professional psychologists. Interns in NICPP agencies serve populations across the lifespan, including children and adolescents, families, older adults, care providers, and adults facing various psychological or medical conditions.

Interns’ internship training will provide a sequential, graded, and cumulative series of learning experiences. Through daily activities and monthly NICPP seminar meetings, interns will have opportunities to achieve the following **professional competencies:**

1. Apply ethical decision making to complex clinical and research activities;
2. Develop and demonstrate knowledge and skills in delivering services within primary and specialty care settings and collaborating across setting and care-providers;
3. Develop and demonstrate a commitment to evidence-based intervention;
4. Demonstrate a commitment to, appreciation of, and respect for diversity equity,

inclusion and access (DEIA);

1. Demonstrate an appreciation for and commitment to research, including scientific practices and research activities;
2. Generate research questions related to their work with clients and answer those questions;
3. Demonstrate competencies to evaluate the efficacy of their work with diverse clients and systems;
4. Conduct formal and informal assessment for the purpose of designing interventions and creating recommendations;
5. Demonstrate awareness of supervision needs and set goals for the supervision process; and
6. Demonstrate professionalism in relationships, language, interactions, communications and timely completion of internship activities.

## Monthly NICPP Seminars

Interns are required to attend and participate in monthly NICPP seminars that support and enhance the NICPP training objectives. Seminar meetings will:

1. provide a common core of experiences among all NICPP interns;
2. facilitate interns’ relationships with each other;
3. increase interns’ knowledge of psychological science and practice across settings;
4. increase interns' knowledge of the breadth and depth of lifespan psychology; and
5. Incorporate a tour of the hosting agency to increase interns’ knowledge of different clinical settings

The NICPP seminars integrate these four components throughout the year. Ethical practice and scientific investigation are emphasized within each component.

1. *Diversity*: Multicultural considerations in assessment and intervention, development of world views, guidelines for delivery of services to ethnically and linguistically diverse clients, consideration of factors of intersectionality including but not limited to ADDRESSING[1](#_bookmark3) model components. Awareness of equity and inclusion are infused throughout all topics and presentations.
2. *Intervention*: Intervention with substance abuse, health issues, system level intervention, family therapy, psychopathology across the lifespan, supervision, consultation, crisis intervention.
3. *Professional Issues*: Roles of psychology in diverse agencies including primary care clinics, inpatient psychiatric hospitals, private practice, intermediate care facilities for clients with intellectual, developmental or behavioral disabilities, academic medical centers, post- acute

1 The ADDRESSING acronym stands for Age and generational influences, Developmental or other Disability, Religion and spirituality, Ethnic and racial identity, Socioeconomic status, Sexual orientation, Indigenous heritage, National origin, and Gender.

rehabilitation facilities, schools, and universities. Specific presentations address ethics and issues related to managed care.

1. *Assessment:* Behavioral, psychometric issues/research, neuropsychology, family, infant, personality/emotional, custody, and vocational.

## Seminar Schedule

Each monthly seminar is typically scheduled from 8:30 am to 4:00 pm. A schedule of seminar dates is included at [https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/ .](https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/) Seminar locations rotate across the NICPP agencies, and some seminars occur virtually. Seminar agendas include presentations by NICPP faculty and agency scholars, professional case presentations by NICPP interns, and social events arranged during lunch or at the end of each monthly seminar.

During virtual seminars, interns are asked to follow the protocol that the American Psychological Association typically expects for virtual professional development: be punctual in joining the seminar, keep their cameras on and mute their microphones except when speaking, participate actively in breakout rooms and discussion of case presentations, ensure that their space is quiet and uninterrupted, and behave professionally throughout the seminar.

## NICPP Internship Requirements

1. The NICPP Internship requires a **minimum of 2,000 hours** during a **year long, 12-month** period documented in monthly logs submitted to the NICPP Program Coordinator. A **minimum of 500 hours must be spent in face-to-face psychological services** to patients/clients. Interns **receive a minimum 4 hours of supervision** per week; at least 2 of these hours are individual, face-to-face supervision with a licensed psychologist and the remaining 2 hours may individual or group supervision and/or with another licensed professional (e.g., LMHP, BCBA, MSW, MD, etc) or university advisor.

To verify that these requirements are met, interns submit a monthly activity log to the NICPP Program Coordinator by the 5th of the following month. Timely and accurate completion of monthly activity logs is an important professional responsibility of each intern. Inaccurate or incomplete activity logs may delay interns' completion date and delay the release of a Certificate of Internship Completion. Definitions of activities reported in the log can be found on the NICPP Current Interns webpage: <https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/>

Extended leaves may be requested for cause as defined by each NICPP agency. A written agreement for extended leaves will be developed and drafted prior to the dates of leave in a formal document signed by the Agency Training Director, the NICPP Training Director, and the intern. These leaves are typically unpaid.

1. Interns are required to attend and participate in all monthly NICPP seminars. In unusual circumstances, interns may be excused from one monthly seminar for cause with the approval of the NICPP Training Director and their Agency Training Director. In the event of

an excused absence, interns are expected to review training materials, recordings and slide presentations from the seminar on their own time. Interns are responsible for their own travel expenses to monthly seminars, unless otherwise arranged by their agency. Travel time on seminar days to locations other than an intern’s placement is logged as “Other” on the intern log.

1. All interns must present a case for discussion during the NICPP seminar devoted to Case Presentations. Interns will submit a 150-word abstract describing their case study one month in advance of the Case Presentation Seminar using a presentation abstract form. The form will include a supervisor’s signature verifying that the topic has been discussed and reviewed by the supervisor. Each case presentation will be 15 minutes in length followed by 15 minutes for questions and discussion from both interns and faculty members.
2. Every intern will be evaluated at least twice – once mid-internship and again at end-of- internship. The evaluations will be completed by the intern's primary supervisor based on observation and comments by all supervisors who have interacted with the intern. The evaluation form is located on the current Intern’s webpage [https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-](https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/) [interns/ .](https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/) Mid- and end- of-internship evaluations will be discussed by the intern and supervisor, and both the intern and the supervisor will provide written comments on the designated spaces on the evaluation form. Once signed by the intern and the supervisor, completed evaluation forms are forwarded to a NICPP Co-Training Director for review and signature. Copies of the mid- and end-of-internship evaluations are forwarded to the intern’s Director of Clinical Training. At mid-internship, NICPP interns are expected to average 3 or above in each competency summarized on the evaluation form. By the end of the internship, NICPP Interns must average 4 or above in each competency summarized on the evaluation form to successfully complete internship.

Supervisors will rate interns' performance in three of the eight NICPP competency areas via live supervision and incorporate the feedback into each intern's mid-internship and end-of- internship evaluation (See requirement 4, above). Rubrics for Competencies 1 and 2 are located on the NICPP Current Interns webpage <https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/> There is no rubric for Competency 3.

* + **Competency 1**: the Teaching/Presenting (Area 4 on the NICPP Evaluation Form) is documented through supervisors' feedback after observing interns' case presentation during seminar days or equivalent presentations conducted at other times. .
  + **Competency 2**: Assessment (Area 3 on the NICPP evaluation form) is assessed by supervisors directly observing interns conduct an intake assessment.
  + **Competency 3**: Supervision (Area 8 on the NICPP Evaluation Form) is evaluated based on the qualitative feedback provided to interns by supervisors who observed the intern providing supervision to others. This qualitative feedback on interns’ competency in supervising others will be reported by supervisors on the NICPP evaluation form.

Deidentified ratings from all three competencies will be used as data evaluating the NICPP for purposes of accreditation and national approval.

1. **Competency Management Plans** will be completed by interns at the beginning of the year, mid-internship, and at end-of-internship. These plans specify how interns will address the NICPP competency objectives within their agency and internship. Interns will also specify individual goals that they have set for themselves during their internship year. Plans will incorporate specific and individualized professional goals for interns' training year established by interns with their supervisors at the beginning of the training year. These plans may be revised as necessary with the approval of the supervisor and intern. Interns assess and score their progress in completing these activities at midyear and again at the end of the year. They then review their **Competency Management Plan** with their supervisor. Completed and reviewed plans will be signed by the intern, supervisor, and a NICPP Co-Training Director. Copies of the mid- and end-of-internship Competency Management Plans are forwarded to the intern’s Director of Clinical Training. Interns are encouraged to review their plans regularly and use these in supervision to enhance their skill development and autonomy.
2. Interns are expected to maintain their own professional liability coverage unless this is provided by their agency. Insurance is available through The Trust for approximately

$35/year [https://www.trustinsurance.com/Insurance-Programs/Student-Liability.](https://www.trustinsurance.com/Insurance-Programs/Student-Liability)

All documents and links needed to document interns' completion of these requirements, throughout the year, are available at: <https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/> .

## Intern Governance, Committees and Peer Support

Intern participation in the governance of the NICPP and interactions with peers outside of interns' home agency are important components of NICPP training. To facilitate these, NICPP agency training directors have created four intern committees. A goal is for most interns to participate in one of the following committees, and for each NICPP agency to have, at a minimum, one intern on the NICPP Leadership Committee and one intern on the NICPP Accreditation Committee:

* + Cultural Responsibility Committee: charged with advising the NICPP Board, supervisors and interns on actions and policies to foster equity,
  + Intern Engagement Committee: charged with engaging the NICPP Board, supervisors and interns in socializing actions and policies that foster a positive and caring; community within the NICPP
  + NICPP Leadership Committee: charged with advising the NICPP Board on policies and practices that the leadership should take to strengthen the internship; this committee will select one member to attend the first 30 minutes of each quarterly NICPP Board of

Supervisors meeting to represent intern perspectives and recommendations.

* + NICPP Accreditation Committee: charged with engaging the NICPP Board, supervisors and interns in activities and reviews that will strengthen all stakeholders preparation for the Fall 2025 site visit from the American Psychological Association Commission on Accreditation.

As additional socialization strategies, supervisors may randomize seating of interns during in- person seminars and plan peer group discussions of professional and personal topics at seminars. Given the many agencies, orientations and disciplines within the NICPP, it is very important that interns learn and expand their knowledge outside of their area of specialization. This goal is also consistent with APA’s requirement to broaden interns' general knowledge and experiences.

## Accommodations for Interns with disabilities

The NICPP is committed to the successful performance of all interns. Interns with disabilities who need accommodations should direct their request to their Agency Training Director or NICPP Co-Training Director. Next, interns will contact the Office for Student with Disabilities in their home university and authorize that office to send a copy of their existing accommodation plan to the NICPP. In most cases, the existing plan for accommodations will need to be adapted to the tasks and responsibilities that the intern is assigned within the supervised experiences of the NICPP. The intern, their supervisor(s), the Agency Training Director and relevant agency offices, and an NICPP Co-Training Director will work collaboratively with the home university to create an appropriate plan for accommodations. If the intern did not have had an accommodation plan in their home university, the intern and the NICPP will collaborate with the home university’s Office for Students with Disabilities to verify the disability and develop an appropriate plan for accommodations to support the intern’s mastery of the NICPP competencies and requirements.

## Grievance and Due Process Procedures

Periodically, concerns arise among interns or their supervisors that address supervision or intern performance. The NICPP considers such issues to be critically important and works to resolve concerns in ways that prioritize the continued development of interns. Thus, structured policies around grievance and due process procedures have been developed, are discussed at the outset of the internship year, and are provided on pages 24-36 of this manual and at <https://cehs.unl.edu/node/current-interns/> . Where applicable, interns should also adhere to their agency's internal grievance and due-process policies and procedures. Interns are strongly encouraged to address concerns, complaints, or questions directly, immediately, and collaboratively. When concerns with intern performance are identified, a written remediation plan will be completed in coordination with the intern, Agency Training Director, and NICPP Training Director. The NICPP Co-Training Directors, Dr. Beth Doll and Dr. Allison Grennan, are available to help on an informal or formal basis.

## Intern Support Services

A variety of support services for interns are available through the NICPP and participating agencies to facilitate interns' successful progress through the internship. First, supervisors engage in ongoing formal (structured) and informal (semi structured) performance evaluatio n to monitor progress and promote early identification of additional experiences and support that may be needed to foster interns' success. Second, Drs. Doll and Grennan, as NICPP Co- Training Directors, are available to interns to acknowledge and address intern concerns and feedback. Third, NICPP formal evaluation procedures monitor the growth and performance of interns. NICPP policies for formal performance monitoring of interns are designed to provide guidance, structure and support for the interns' professional development, rather than the delivery of punitive or punishing consequences. Intern representatives to the Board support

fellow interns and ensure the interns' viewpoint is shared at Board and policy levels. Additionally, intern representatives serve as social liaisons who coordinate social activities for the NICPP with the NICPP Program Coordinator. Intern members of the NICPP DEI Committee offer recommendations and assist the NICPP in recruitment and retention of interns and training staff with diverse backgrounds. The NICPP strongly believes that interns' perspectives and insights are important to the continued growth of the NICPP.

## Preparation for and Integration of Seminar Information

Specific readings, advance organizers, and discussion questions may be assigned to interns in advance of each month's seminar. In addition, interns are expected to read and become proficient in the following guidelines and principles regarding service delivery published by the APA:

American Psychological Association. (1990). *Guidelines for providers of psychological services to ethnic, linguistic, and culturally diverse populations*. <https://www.apa.org/about/policy/providers-of-psyc-services.pdf>

American Psychological Association. (2017). *Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct.* <https://www.apa.org/ethics/code>

American Psychological Association. (2017). *Multicultural guidelines: An ecological approach to context, identity and intersectionality*. Author. <https://www.apa.org/about/policy/multicultural-guidelines>

## Student Membership in APA Divisions

NICPP interns are strongly encouraged to become members of professional organizations in psychology including student membership in the American Psychological Association.

Interns are encouraged to become a member of their respective APA practice divisions (Clinical – 12; Counseling – 17; School – 16). Other divisions that reflect interests across the

NICPP are: 7, 13, 25, 29, 37, 38, 40, 45, 52, 53 and 54 (to name a few). Most divisions offer discounted student membership. For more information, check the links below:

Division 12 (Clinical): <http://www.div12.org/membership> Division 16 (School): <http://apadivision16.org/> Division 17 (Counseling): <https://www.div17.org/>

Division 22 (Rehabilitation Psychology): <https://division-rehabpsych.squarespace.com/> Division 38 (Health Psychology): <https://societyforhealthpsychology.org/> Division 53 (Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology): <https://sccap53.org/> Division 54 (Society of Pediatric Psychology): <https://pedpsych.org/>

## Intern File Retention

Internship files will be kept for at least ten (10) years in the NICPP central offices at the University of Nebraska Lincoln. Records of all interns’ successful completion of their accredited internship will be maintained for a minimum of twenty five (25) years. Letters of completion and/or copies of signed certificates of completion, if available, will be scanned and maintained electronically.

## Interns stipends and earned income in addition to NICPP stipend

Interns are allowed to receive scholarships in addition to the intern stipend. Interns are not allowed to enter into an agreement as an employee of any other entity during the term of their internship. Interns must disclose and receive the approval of their Agency Training Director prior to receiving other forms of financial remuneration for services (e.g. speaking fees, consulting fees, contracted research.)

## Board of Supervisors Structure

The Agency Training Director from each member NICPP agency will be a member of the NICPP Board of Supervisors. The UNL position as NICPP Co-Training Director will rotate between the UNL Clinical, Counseling, and School Psychology programs. The agency position as NICPP Co-Training Director will be identified from the NICPP agencies determined by the board. Term of office is flexible, with the preference that a new NICPP Co-Training Director start at least two years before an APA self-study/site visit year. There will be 2 non-voting board members from the training programs at UNL not holding the director position. The non-voting board members will attend the NICPP Board of Supervisor meetings.

**Site Visits**

To facilitate interns' exposure to diverse psychological services and treatment within the NICPP, the agency training directors are committed to introducing interns to the breadth of experiences across the various agencies. To achieve this goal, in-person seminars will incorporate agency site tours. A unifying perspective of psychological practice across the

NICPP agencies is ecological developmental theory. Individuals are continually developing in the context of reciprocal interactions with the environment. Change is possible from multiple sources, including environmental, psychological, and biological facto rs. Psychological and behavioral interventions occur at all levels and through diverse activities. The various agencies within the NICPP provide opportunities for interns to develop knowledge and skills in providing services within primary care settings an d collaborating across settings and care-providers.

The NICPP is situated in a unique geographical locale. Through the inclusion of agencies in urban (e.g., Omaha), regional (e.g., Lincoln), and rural settings (e.g., Chadron), interns gain exposure to differences in psychological and mental health services across broad community contexts. Further, the availability of sites such as schools, hospitals, outpatient clinics, and residential agencies adds to the breadth of treatment facilities to which interns are introduced.

**Case Presentations**

One monthly seminar will be a Case Presentation Day when each NICPP intern will present a case to the NICPP interns, supervisors, and training directors. The purposes of the case presentations are to:

* Encourage interns to maintain an evidence-based, scientist-practitioner model in everyday clinical work.
* Practice presentation skills.
* Improve clinical skills.
* Respond professionally to questions and feedback.

When presenting their cases, interns will acknowledge the unifying ecological developmental perspective of the NICPP agencies by emphasizing the conditions in a client's environment and setting as a source of change. A case presentation might also target a system or staff and show how changing that system affects an individual client or client outcomes. Presentations will be 17-20 minutes long and presented symposium-style in groups of 3-4, followed by a Q&A period of 20 minutes where all presenters in the group will answer questions from the audience. Both the evaluation form that is completed by NICPP interns and the evaluation form that is completed by NICPP supervisors for each case presentation are included

at: [https://unleducation.az1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV\_eyMQWAofslZjp0a](#_bookmark45)

Case presentations will incorporate the following information: Relevant Client Characteristics:

Age, gender identity, grade, sexual identity and orientation, race, ethnicity Critical development in medical history

Critical family history

Diversity Considerations – ADDRESSING (Age and generational influences, Developmental or other Disability, Religion and spirituality, Ethnic and racial identity, Socioeconomic status, Sexual orientation, Indigenous heritage, National origin, and Gender), and their implications for service delivery and treatment.

Presenting Problem:

Operationally defined the presenting concern How was the problem assessed? ICD-10 diagnoses

What data were or will be collected (records, direct observation, self-report, parent report, questionnaires, standardized measures, etc.).

Any problems or potential problems with data collection? How were/will these data used to make a clinical decision

Previous Research:

What is the empirical basis for treatment? Briefly discuss research studies and data that support selected treatment modality and therapy relationship factors/adaptations.

Provide selected references.

Treatment (when presenting a therapy case):

Describe the treatment components (or components that will be used).

Was the treatment modality and therapy relationship factors/adaptations empirically supported?

Treatment integrity – How did you ensure that treatment was actually implemented?

If changes were made in treatment, how are data used to help you make decisions? What were ethical and diversity considerations with this treatment?

Evaluation:

How was (or will) progress (be) evaluated and objective manner? Describe the case using a multicultural lens

Identify critical legal and ethical dilemmas raised by the case Discussion:

Describe two or three critical questions or topics that should guide the case discussion.

## Final Comments

Internship training in the NICPP is a collaborative effort among the interns, their supervisor, agency staff, and the NICPP Co-Training Directors. Communication is VITAL. Electronic mail is used extensively, and it is ultimately the interns' responsibility to ensure that they share appropriate communication channels. Interns are asked to check the NICPP website regularly ([https://nicpp.unl.edu](https://nicpp.unl.edu/)) and follow the NICPP on social media. Ultimately, successful completion of the internship requires a great deal of careful decision making by interns.

## NICPP Intern Goals and Evaluations

The training goals of the Nebraska Internship Consortium in Professional Psychology are diverse and represent the far-reaching nature of training and a scientist-practitioner approach to psychology. Specifically, when completing an internship through the NICPP, we expect prospective psychologists to gain experiences and competencies in:

* Apply ethical decision making to complex clinical and research activities
* Develop and demonstrate knowledge and skills in delivering services and collaborating across settings and care-providers (consultation)
* Develop and demonstrate a commitment to evidence-based intervention procedures
* Develop and demonstrate an appreciation for and commitment to research, including scientific practices and/or research activities
* Develop research questions/skills related to your work with clients
* Develop and demonstrate competencies to evaluate the efficacy of your work with diverse clients and systems
* Conduct formal and informal assessment for the purpose of designing interventions and creating recommendations
* Develop and demonstrate awareness of supervision needs and set goals for supervision process
* Professional in relationships, language, interactions, communications, and timely completion of internship activities.
* Grow in knowledge and confidence in case conceptualization from an integrative, decolonial framework
* Recover from graduate school burnout to enjoy learning again
* Explore psychology careers outside of direct service

Supervisors formally evaluate the progress of interns toward competence using the NICPP Intern Evaluation Fillable Form (mid-internship and end-of-internship). Interns develop specific goals related to these competencies using the GAS form and describe their own progress towards each goal. In addition, at the end of their internship year, interns are encouraged to complete the Intern Evaluation of Supervisor and evaluate the quality of the supervision they are receiving and how effective their supervisor is in helping them to achieve their goals and develop competency.

## NICPP Intern Evaluation

Formal evaluation forms are completed twice in the intern’s program. Specifically, a mid - internship evaluation is conducted, wherein each intern’s performance and goals are reviewed, with recommendations for subsequent activities and actions articulated. A summative, end-of-internship evaluation is completed to provide an appraisal of interns' competencies at the completion of their internship experience. Supervisors review these evaluations and offer recommendations in individualized meetings with the int erns.

Supervisors and the intern comment on the evaluation and sign the evaluation before forwarding it to the NICPP Training Director. Completed evaluations are forwarded by the NICPP Central Office to each intern’s Director of Clinical Training at their home university.

These evaluations are based on actual observation and reports of supervising psychologists, clients, and others concerned with clients and their treatment. The format includes eight basic competencies and a general summary section. Specific behaviors within the competencies that are irrelevant to a particular agency may be marked NA. However, all interns are expected to address each of the eight competencies during their internship. Additional competencies that are not listed may be addressed in the general summary.

**Competency Scale 1-6**

**1 = Pre-internship/Deficient 4 = Yearend Competency Minimum**

**2 = Beginning Internship 5 = Yearend Competent**

**3 = Midyear Competency Minimum 6 = Post-internship/Excellent**

Each competency is described with a list of specific behaviors. Some competencies also request information regarding context or population with which the competency was addressed.

Interns' level of competence for each specific behavior is rated using the above numerical scale from 1 to 6 that compares their performance to the level of mastery that would be expected of interns at each stage of their training. The scores on the specific behaviors listed in a competency are averaged for the competency summary rating.

The competency scale of 1 to 6 represents the typical range and course of development during the internship year. It is expected that most interns will receive competency summary ratings that are between 2 and 3 at the beginning of internship , gaining as competencies develop to ratings between 3 and 4 at midyear, and ratings of 4 or 5 at the conclusion of the internship. Supervisors are asked to provide specific explanations in the comments box for any competency ratings that fall outside of these ranges of the scale. **By the conclusion of the training year, all interns need to achieve competency ratings averaging 4 (End-of- internship competency minimum) or above in each of the eight competency areas of the NICPP evaluation to successfully complete the internship.** The NICPP Intern Evaluation Forms can be found at <https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/>

## Competency Management Plan

An important aspect of the doctoral internship is planning professional activities required to master established NICPP competencies and monitoring the attainment of these goals over time. NICPP interns are required to work with their supervisors to develop individual Competency Management Plans to address their achievement of the NICPP competencies within their internship agency. These plans will be assessed mid-internship and end-of-internship using a attainment scale. Individualized goals are also incorporated into the plan to reflect interns’ individual aspirations. The plans can be revised as necessary throughout the year with approval of the intern and supervisor.

At the beginning of their internship year, Interns will develop their competency management plans in collaboration with their supervisor, carefully refining these plans to be specific and objective, reasonable, attainable, constructive, and measurable. Plans should include a timeline by which the activities will be accomplished. Interns' professional goals are also recorded on their Competency Management Plan, which should then be signed by the intern and the supervisor and submitted to the NICPP Co-Training Directors. Mid-internship and end-of-internship, progress towards their Competency Management Plans will be

recorded by the Intern, reviewed with their supervisor, signed by both the intern and the supervisor, and submitted to the NICPP Co-Training Directors. The NICPP Competency Management Plan is at <https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/>

## Intern Evaluation of Programming and Supervision

In order to ensure that the NICPP is obtaining and providing meaningful feedback to participating agencies and supervisors, the NICPP recruits feedback from interns throughout the year.

*Seminar Evaluations.* Interns are strongly encouraged to complete anonymous evaluations of seminar speakers and content. Qualtrics surveys are distributed at each NICPP seminar for this purpose.

*Evaluations of Supervisors.* Interns are strongly encouraged to complete evaluations of their supervisors at mid-year and end-of-internship. The evaluation is intended to be an opportunity for candid feedback and will be discussed with the supervisor before being sent to the NICPP Program Coordinator. The NICPP central office will store supervisor evaluations, sharing a de-identified summary for sites twice per year, and sharing individual surveys with agency supervisors after at least three evaluations have been collected for an individual supervisor. Interns also have the option of waiving their anonymity and sharing the evaluation immediately with an NICPP Co-Training Director or Agency Training Director. If significant concerns with an intern’s well-being or safety are noted in a survey, results for an individual supervisor may be shared immediately with Agency Training Directors regardless of the number of evaluations that have been collected by the Central Office. A copy of the Intern Evaluation of Supervisor can be found at <https://nicpp.unl.edu/current-interns/>

*Voice of the Interns Survey*. Twice annually, interns are sent a survey to assess their satisfaction with the NICPP internship program. Results are gathered by intern representatives to the NICPP Board of Supervisors and shared with the Board during a quarterly board meeting.

## Nebraska Internship Consortium in Professional Psychology Supervision, Evaluation, and Due Process Policies and Procedures

The Nebraska Internship Consortium in Professional Psychology is committed to maintaining an internship program that facilitates learning and professional growth for interns. The training staff place a high premium on creating a work environment that is professionally stimulating, open to change, supportive of diversity, and sufficiently flexible to accommodate individual needs and requirements. Fundamental to a successful training experience is the provision of ongoing feedback to interns that facilitates professional and personal growth.

The NICPP recognizes that developmental stressors are inherent both in the transition from graduate school to an internship setting and during the course of the internship. During the internship, interns are exposed to full-time clinical practice, typically involving a full and challenging caseload as well as responding to client crisis and agency requirements.

Furthermore, internship supervision is often very intense, concentrated and frequent, which may increase the intern’s sense of personal and professional vulnerability. Thus, while the internship represents time of increased stress and vulnerability even while it is also a critical professional opportunity when interns can learn and refine skills, gain a greater sense of professional confidence, and develop a greater sense of professional identity.

Interns make significant development transitions during the internship and may need special types of assistance during this time. It is the responsibility of the NICPP to provide activities, procedures, and opportunities that can facilitate growth and minimize stress. Such measures include, but are not limited to, orientation meetings, individualized programs, clear and realistic expectations, clear and timely evaluations which include suggestions for positive change, contact with support individuals (e.g., supervisors) and/or groups (e.g., other graduate interns, former interns, etc.), seminars specifically addressing expected stressors and transitions, and staff attention to the gradual increase in both the number and complexity of clients. It is the responsibility of the NICPP intern to be responsive to supervisor feedback, engage fully in remedial learning activities that are recommended by the supervisor, and commit fully to the provision of effective psychological services that are needed to benefit their clients.

This document outlines the rights and responsibilities of interns in the training process. It also outlines the supervision, evaluation, and due process procedures.

## Intern Rights and Responsibilities

*Intern Rights*

1. The right to a clear statement of general rights and responsibilities upon entry into the internship, including a clear statement of goals and parameters of the training experience.
2. The right to be trained by professionals who behave in accordance with the APA ethical guidelines.
3. The right to be treated with professional respect, that recognizes the training and experience the intern brings with them.
4. The right to ongoing evaluation that is specific, respectful, and pertinent.
5. The right to engage in an ongoing evaluation of the NICPP experience.
6. The right to initiate an informal resolution of problematic training experiences (supervision assignments, etc.) through discussion or written request to the agency staff member, Agency Training Director and/or to the NICPP Training Director and NICPP Associate Training Directors if informal resolution has failed to address problems or to determine whether rights have been infringed.
7. The right to respect for one's personal privacy.

*Intern Responsibilities*

1. The responsibility to read, understand, and clarify, if necessary, the statement of rights and responsibilities. It is assumed that these responsibilities will be exercised and their implementation is viewed as a function of competence.
2. The responsibility to behave consistent with the principles set forth by the statutes and regulations of the American Psychological Association, the University of Nebraska - Lincoln, and the respective NICPP Agency. These Principles are set forth in the American Psychological Association's Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct (<http://www.apa.org/ethics/code/index.aspx>) and the University of Nebraska- Lincoln's Student Code of Conduct (<http://stuafs.unl.edu/dos/code>).
3. The responsibility to be responsive to professionally appropriate feedback from supervisors, professional staff, and agency personnel.
4. The responsibility to prioritize the well-being of clients to whom the intern provides psychological services.
5. The responsibility to behave in a manner that promotes professional interactions and is in accordance with the standards and expectations of the University of Nebraska -Lincoln and the respective NICPP agency.
6. The responsibility to give constructive feedback that evaluates the training experience or other experiences in the NICPP.
7. The responsibility to conduct oneself in a professionally appropriate manner ifdue process is initiated.
8. The responsibility to actively participate in the training, clinical services, and the overall activities of the NICPP. This includes requirements of completing documentation in a timely manner, attending monthly seminars as set by the Board of Supervisors, completing and submitting logs to the NICPP office each month, and providing information to the NICPP office as requested for completion of all reports.
9. The responsibility to meet internship expectations by developing competency in (1) intervention/therapy skills; (2) consultation/collaboration skills; (3) assessment/evaluation

skills; (4) teaching/presenting/supervising skills; (5) research/program evaluation skills;

(6) ethical/legal/cultural awareness; (7) professional/interpersonal conduct; (8) professional development; and other areas as delineated in the internal evaluation forms.

## Supervision

Good supervision by appropriately credentialed and experienced psychologists is critical to the internship experience in professional psychology. Psychology interns must have psychologists available as their primary mentors. In this way, interns can see how psychologists work in a variety of settings, with particular populations, and with a wide array of remedial and preventative interventions and assessments.

All NICPP interns are guaranteed two hours of individual face-to-face supervision from licensed psychologists and an additional two hours of supervision in other modalities (e.g., case conferences, staffing, multidisciplinary teams, grand rounds) every wee k. These hours form an important core of training. NICPP interns also have frequent and easy access to psychologist supervisors outside of formally scheduled supervision sessions. In addition, NICPP interns attend monthly seminars with participation from supervisors from each of the NICPP agencies, and receive feedback from all of the supervisors on case presentations. In this way, the NICPP Board of Supervisors affirms a policy on supervision that matches good training practices, and that exceed the minimum required by state law or national accrediting agencies. All interns will receive agency-specific didactics on supervision expectations for their agency.

The best internship experiences occur in agencies that have full-time psychology staff. These psychologists are committed to quality mentoring activities with interns and will be responsible for providing feedback and support as interns become socialized to their work and gain competence in the many tasks and roles played by psychologists. Interns will understand the lines of authority among their supervisors and agency administrators so that their concerns and needs can be dealt with in a timely manner. The NICPP supervisors are skilled practitioners and have agency authority to oversee the responsibilities and opportunities offered to the interns.

Psychology interns can learn important information and skills from non -psychologist supervisors. These individuals (e.g., psychiatrists, social workers, psychiatric nurses, speech and language experts, rehabilitation experts, physicians, teachers, and other non-doctoral mental health practitioners) play an important but secondary role in the training of psychologists.

When some portion of an NICPP intern's learning depends on interaction with other related professionals, these professionals will work in cooperation with the primary psychologist supervisor when training and mentoring the interns.

## The Evaluation Process

The NICPP continually assesses each intern's performance. Feedback from the assessments facilitates interns’ professional growth by acknowledging strengths and identifying performance areas that need improvement. Formative evaluations occur on a regular basis to provide

ongoing input and feedback regarding an intern's performance and support the continual development of interns’ skills and competencies. Formal evaluations are completed twice in the intern’s program and are documented with signed written evaluation forms. Specifically, a

mid-internship evaluation is conducted, wherein each intern’s performance and goals are reviewed, with recommendations for subsequent activities and actions articulated. Likewise, a summative, end-of-internship evaluation is completed to provide an appraisal of the intern’s competencies at the completion of the internship experience. Supervisors review these assessments and offer recommendations in individualized meetings with the interns. In the meetings, differences between interns’ and supervisors’ appraisals are expected to surface and, in most cases, will be resolved. After meeting, the supervisor and intern sign the written evaluation and forward it to the NICPP Training Director. Copies of the evaluation and the Competency Management Plan are forwarded to the intern’s Director of Clinical Training.

## Communication with Interns’ Home Graduate Programs

The NICPP Co-Training Directors are responsible for communicating with each interns’ sponsoring graduate program about the intern’s activities and progress. Early in the year, the home graduate program receives information about the intern’s training activities. Mid -internship, the home graduate program receives copies of the intern’s evaluation and competency management plan. At the end of the internship year, the home program receives copies of supervisors’ evaluations of the intern’s skills, professionalism, and personal functioning, along with a brief summary evaluation indicating whether the intern successfully completed the internship.

At any time, if problems arise that would impair an intern's ability to successfully complete the internship program, the NICPP Co-Training Directors will inform the home graduate program. The home program will be encouraged to provide input to assist in resolving the problems.

## Due Process in Evaluation and Remediation

The NICPP follows due process guidelines to ensure that decisions about interns are neither arbitrary nor inaccurate. The program uses the same procedures to evaluate all interns and has appeal procedures that permit any intern to challenge program decisions. The due process guidelines include the following:

1. All interns receive a written statement of program expectations for professional functioning.
2. Evaluation procedures are clearly stipulated, including when and how evaluations will be conducted.
3. The procedures and actions for making decisions about impairment are outlined in written statements given to all interns.
4. The Directors of Clinical Training from interns’ home graduate program are informed about any suspected difficulties with interns could impair their successful completion of the internship.
5. Remediation plans are instituted for identified inadequacy's including timeframes for remediation and specific consequences for failure to rectify the inadequacies.
6. All interns receive a written description of procedures they may use to appeal the program's actions.
7. Interns are given sufficient time to respond to any action taken by the program.
8. Decisions or recommendations regarding the interns’ performance are based

on input from multiple professional sources.

1. Program actions and their rationale are documented in writing to all relevant parties.

## Definitions

Among professionals in training, “problem behaviors” are expected and may be common in the ongoing process of developing and refining professional skills. Problem behaviors are said to be present when supervisors perceive that trainee’s behaviors, attitudes, or characteristics are disrupting the quality of their clinical services; their relationships with peers, supervisors, or other staff; or their ability to comply with appropriate standards of professional behavior. The NICPP Co-Training Directors, Agency Training Directors, and intern's supervisors use their collective professional judgment to determine when an intern's problem behaviors are serious enough to constitute an impairment rather than merely being problems.

The NICPP has adopted a clear definition of intern impairment. Intern impairment is defined as an interference in professional functioning that renders interns:

* + unable and/or unwilling to acquire and integrate professional standards into their repertoire of professional behavior;
  + unable to acquire professional skills that reach an acceptable level of competency; or
  + unable to control personal stress which leads to dysfunctional emotional reactions and behaviors that disrupt professional functioning.

Specifically, problem behaviors become identified as impairments when they include one or more of the following characteristics:

1. The intern does not acknowledge, understand, or address the problem when it is identified.
2. The problem is not merely a reflection of a skill deficit that can be rectified by academic or didactic training.
3. The quality of services delivered by the intern is significantly negatively affected.
4. The problem is not restricted to one area of professional functioning.
5. A disproportionate amount of attention by training personnel is required.
6. The intern’s behavior does not change as a function of feedback, remediation

efforts, and/or time.

## Procedural Guidelines

Under usual circumstances the progress of interns throughout the internship program will be monitored and adjusted according to their individual needs. However, if at any time the intern is identified as impaired as defined above, the intern and their supervisory team will meet together to consider the intern’s progress in light of these difficulties. If repeated attempts to remediate the intern's deficits have been unsuccessful, a process for considering further action will be initiated. Involvement of the intern’s Director of Clinical Training is encouraged at any point in these procedures, but Directors of Clinical Training must be notified if the procedures progress to Step 3. These procedures have been developed to protect intern rights and the integrit y of the internship program.

Step 1

When a determination is made than educational or professional problem exists, the intern and their Agency Training Director and supervisor will discuss the problem and outline ways to correct or rectify the problem. This interaction should include ample opportunities for the intern to react to the information presented regarding a potential proble m area. The concerns, action plan and resolution will be documented with the Due Process Documentation template. This documentation will be provided to the Agency Training Director and the NICPP Co-Training Directors.

If the problem continues for more than 2 weeks, the supervisor and the agency training director will again discuss the nature of the problem with the intern. The intern will have the opportunity to discuss the problem in detail with their supervisor. The purpose of this meeting will be to develop additional intervention plans and to decide whether the current remediation plan or a revised remediation plan should be in force. Documentation of this second Step 1 meeting will be provided to the Agency Training Director and the NICPP Co-Training Directors.

Step 2

If the second meeting with the agency supervisor and Agency Training Director is unsuccessful in addressing the intern’s difficulties within 2 weeks, a meeting will then be held with the intern, agency supervisor, Agency Training Director, and an NICPP Co-Training Director. The intern will be informed of the meeting at least one week prior to the date and will have the opportunity to provide additional evidence to the NICPP Co-Training Director and agency training director to consider at that meeting. The purpose of this meeting will be to develop additional action plans, decide whether the current or a revised remediation plan should stay in force, and determine whether to convene a subset of the NICPP Supervisory Board to address the intern’s difficulties (Step 3). The role of the NICPP Co-Training Director in this meeting is to engage the full resources of the NICPP partner agencies in planning specific actions to correct or rectify the problem.

Step 3

When the outcome of Step 2 results in a conclusion that an intern’s skills, professionalism, or personal functioning are inadequate for an intern in training and if the refined remediation plan has not been successful in addressing the intern’s difficulties, a remediation team representing the NICPP Supervisory Board will be convened. This remediation team will be comprised of a subset of at least 4 members representing different NICPP agencies, not including the intern's home agency. The role of the NICPP remediation team is to provide additional supervisory expertise in the remediation of interns’ developmental problems and to represent the NICPP in deciding actions that will be taken. The remediation team will initiate the following procedures:

1. The negative evaluations will be reviewed formally and a determination made as to what actions need to be taken to address the problems identified. The intern will be notified in writing that such review is occurring and that the NICPP Supervisory Board is prepared to receive any information or statement that the intern wishes to provide with reference to the identified problems.
2. The intern will be informed at least one week prior to the meeting.
3. After reviewing all available information, the NICPP Supervisory Board may take one or more of the following steps:
   * The board may elect to take no further actions.
   * The board may recommend that specific actions be taken to correct or rectify the problem and/or that it will reconvene at a specified later date to review the intern’s progress
   * The board may issue an Acknowledgment Notice which formally states that the board is aware of and concerned about the negative evaluation; (b) the evaluation has been brought to the intern's attention and the board or other supervisors will work with the intern to rectify the problem within a specified time frame; and (c) the behaviors associated with the negative evaluation are not significant enough to warrant more serious action at the time.
   * The board may issue a Probation Notice (Step 4)

Step 4

If the NICPP Supervisory Board (as represented by the remediation team) deems that the behaviors associated with the negative evaluation are significant enough to warrant more serious attention, the Board may issue a Probation Notice. Probationary status specifies that the board, through the supervisors and NICPP Co-Training Directors, will actively and systematically monitor for a specific length of time, the degree to which the intern addresses, changes, and/or otherwise improves the problem behaviors. The Probation Notice is a written statement to the intern that includes the following items:

* + A description of the problematic behavior.
  + Specific recommendations for rectifying the problems.
  + Criteria for ending the probationary status and procedures to assess whether the problem has been appropriately rectified.
  + A time frame for the probation during which the problem is expected to be ameliorated.
  + A summary of options available to the intern.

If the Board deems that remedial action is required, the identified impairment must be systematically addressed by the agency. Possible remedial steps include (but are not limited to) the following:

* + Increased supervision, either with the same or other supervisors.
  + Changed format, emphasis, and/or focus of supervision.
  + A recommendation and/or requirement that personal therapy be undertaken with a
  + clear statement about the manner in which such therapy contacts will be used in the intern evaluation process.
  + Recommendation of a leave of absence and/or a second internship.

Following the delivery of an Acknowledgment Notice or Probation Notice, the NICPP Co- Training Director will meet with the intern to review the required remedial steps. The intern may elect to accept the conditions or may challenge the committee's actions as outlined below. In either case, the NICPP Training Director will inform the intern’s Director of Clinical Training at their home university, and indicate the nature of the inadequacy and the steps taken by the NICPP Supervisory Board. The intern shall receive a copy of the letter to the Director of Clinical Training.

Once an Acknowledgment Notice has been issued by the NICPP Supervisory Board, the problem status will be reviewed within two months, or the next formal evaluation, whichever comes first. In the case of a Probation Notice, the problem status will be reviewed within the time frame set by the notice.

## Failure to Correct Problems

When a combination of interventions does not rectify the impairment within a reasonable period of time, or when the intern seems unable or unwilling to alter their behavior, the NICPP may take more formal action. If an intern's probation has not proved sufficient to rectify the problems under the conditions stipulated by the probation notice, the Supervisory Board will conduct a formal review and then inform the intern in writing that the conditions for revoking the probation have not been met. The committee may then take any of the following steps, or other appropriate action.

1. It may continue the probation for a specified time period.
2. It may issue a suspension, whereby the intern is not allowed to continue engaging in certain professional activities until there is evidence that the problem behaviors in question have been rectified.
3. It may inform the intern, the Director of Clinical Training at the intern's home University, the NICPP Board of Supervisors, and the Agency Training Director and supervisors, that the intern will not successfully complete the internship if their behavior does not change. By the end of the training year, if the intern has not successfully completed the training requirements, the Board will not give the intern a certification of completion. The intern and the
4. intern’s sponsoring university will be informed that the intern has not successfully

completed the internship.

1. It may inform the intern that the Board is recommending to the intern’s sponsoring university, the NICPP Training Director, and the agency Training Director and supervisors that the intern be terminated immediately from the internship program, and with the Directors’ and agency Training Directors’ approval, move to terminate the intern.
2. When the Board's deliberations lead to the conclusion that an intern is not suited for a career in professional clinical practice, it may recommend and assist in implementing a career shift for the intern.

All the above steps will be appropriately documented and implemented in ways that are consistent with due process procedures, including opportunities for interns to initiate grievance proceedings to challenge Supervisory Board decisions. The intern will be informed of meetings at least one week prior to their occurrence and have the opportunity to provide evidence for consideration. If the decision has been to terminate the intern, the intern, the NICPP Board of Supervisors, and the Director of Clinical Training at the intern’s home university will be notified within ten days. The intern and Director of Clinical Training will be given an opportunity to respond orally and/or in writing to this decision. The Supervisory Board will consider this input prior to reaching a final decision.

## Immediate suspension of an Internship

In some rare instances, an intern’s performance may result in immediate suspension of an internship. Immediate suspension may result if the intern abandons the internship (defined as 5 consecutive working days of non-attendance without prior approval of leave of absence); violates agency disciplinary rules which would result in immediate dismissal for any other agency employee; commits serious violations of the ethical code that jeopardize the well-being of clients or co-workers; or commits serious legal violations that jeopardize the well-being of clients or coworkers.

If the Agency Training Director and the NICPP Co-Training Director agree that suspension of an internship is warranted, a remediation team representing the NICPP

Supervisory Board will be convened. This remediation team will be comprised of a subset of at least 4 members representing different NICPP agencies, not including the intern's home agency. The role of the NICPP remediation team is to determine whether the intern’s performance justifies suspension of the internship. The remediation team will initiate the following procedures:

1. The written records and evaluations of the intern will be reviewed formally and a

determination made as to whether the intern’s performance justifies suspension.

1. The intern will be notified in writing at the last known address that such review is occurring at least one week prior to the meeting
2. The intern will be notified in writing at the last known address that the NICPP Supervisory Board is prepared to receive any information or statement that the intern wishes to provide with reference to the identified problems.
3. After reviewing all available information, if the NICPP Supervisory Board determines that termination is warranted, the intern, the NICPP Board of Supervisors, and the intern’s Director of Clinical Training at their home university will be notified within ten days at the last known address. The intern and Director of Clinical Training will be given an opportunity to respond orally and/or in writing to this decision.
4. If, after reviewing all available information, the Supervisory Board determine that termination is not warranted, the Board will recommend remedial actions to rectify the performance problems of the intern.

## Intern Challenge and Grievance Procedures

Interns who receive an Acknowledgement Notice, Probation Notice, Notice of suspension of the internship, or who otherwise disagree with any NICPP Supervisory Board decision regarding their status in the program, are entitled to challenge the Board’s actions by initiating a grievance. Within 5 working days of the receipt of the Board’s notice or other decision, the intern must inform the NICPP Training Director in writing that they are challenging the Board's action. The intern then has 5 additional days to provide the NICPP Training Director with information as to why the intern believes the NICPP Supervisory Board's action is unwarranted. Failure to provide such information will constitute a withdraw of the challenge. Following receipt of the intern’s challenge, the following actions will be taken.

1. The NICPP Co-Training Director will convene a review panel consisting of two members representing different NICPP agencies and selected by the NICPP Co-Training Director and two agency members selected by the intern. These will be the members of the NICPP agencies who did not serve on the NICPP Supervisory Board that reviewed the intern's problem behavior. The intern retains the right to hear all facts and the opportunity to dispute or explain their behavior.
2. The NICPP Co-Training Director will conduct and chair a review hearing in which the intern’s challenge is heard and the evidence presented. The Review Panel’s decisions will be made by majority vote. Within 10 days of completion of the review hearing, the Review Panel will prepare a report on its decisions and recommendations and inform the intern of its decisions. The Review Panel will then submit its report to the Director of

Clinical Training from the intern’s home university, the NICPP Co-Training Director, and the Agency Training Director and supervisors.

1. Once the Review Panel has informed the intern and submitted its report, the intern has five working days within which to seek a further review of their grievance by submitting a written request for further review. The request for review must contain brief explanations of the grievance and of the desired settlement that they are seeking, and it must also specify which NICPP policies, rules, or regulations have been violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied.
2. The Chairperson of the Department of Educational Psychology of UNL will convene an independent ad hoc committee charged with conducting review of all documents submitted and render a written decision. They will render their decision within 15 working days of receipt of the Review Panel's report and within 10 working days of receipt of an intern's request for further review if such request was submitted the chairperson and ad hoc committee may accept the Review Panel’s action, reject the Review Panel’s action and provide an alternative, or refer the matter back to the Review Panel for further deliberation. The panel will report back to the Chairperson and ad hoc committee within 10 working days of the request for further deliberation. The Chairperson and independent committee will then make a final decision regarding actions to be taken. This decision shall be final and binding.
3. Once a final and binding decision has been made, the intern, sponsoring University, and other appropriate individuals will be informed in writing of the action taken.

## Staff Allegation of Intern Violations of Standards

Any staff member of the NICPP, UNL, or cooperating agencies may file a written grievance against an intern for the following reasons: (a) unethical or legal violations of professional standards or laws; (b) failure to satisfy professional obligations that thereby violate the rights, privileges, or responsibilities of others.

1. The NICPP Co-Training Director will review the grievance with other members of the NICPP Board of Supervisors and determine if there is reason to go further or whether the behavior in question is being rectified.
2. If the NICPP Co-Training Director and other board members determined that the alleged behavior cited in the complaint, if proven, would not constitute a serious violation, the NICPP Co-Training Director shall inform the staff member, who may be allowed to renew the complaint if additional information is provided.
3. When a decision has been made by the NICPP Co-Training Director and other NICPP Board members that there is probable cause for deliberation by a Review Panel, the NICPP Co-Training Director shall notify the staff member and request permission to inform the intern. The staff member shall have 5 days to respond to the request and shall be informed that failure to grant permission may preclude further action. If no response is received within 5 days, or permission to inform the intern is denied, the NICPP Co-Training Director and other Board members shall decide whether to proceed with the matter.
4. If the intern is informed of a complaint, a Review Panel is convened consisting of

the NICPP Co-Training Director, two members selected by the staff member who filed the allegation, and two members selected by the intern. The Review Panel receives any relevant information from the intern, the staff member, or both, that bears on its deliberations.

1. The Review Panel, chaired by the NICPP Co-Training Director will hold a review hearing in which the complaint is heard and evidence presented. Within 10 days of completing the review hearing, the Review Panel shall communicate its recommendation to the intern and to the intern’s sponsoring university and the agency Training Director and supervisors.
2. Once the Review Panel has communicated its recommendation to the intern and to the intern’s sponsoring university and the agency Training Director and supervisors, the intern has 5 working days within which to submit a written request for further review. The request should include relevant information, explanations, and viewpoints that may challenge, refute, or otherwise call for modification of the Review Panel’s decisions and recommendations. The request should also specify policies, rules, and regulations that may have been violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied.
3. The Chairperson of the Department of Educational Psychology at UNL well then convene an independent ad hoc committee and review and conduct a review of all documents submitted and render a written decision. They will render their decision within 15 working days of receipt of the Review Panel's report, and within 10 working days of receipt of an intern's request for further review if such request was submitted. The Chairperson and ad hoc committee will then make a final decision regarding actions to be taken be taken.
4. Once a final and binding decision has been made, the intern, sponsoring University, and other appropriate individuals will be informed in writing of the action taken.

## Interns’ Procedures for Registering Concerns or Complaints

During the twelve-month internship, interns may experience a concern about some element of the internship. Procedures for dealing with concerns are outlined below.

Step 1

When interns experience problems or concerns at their agency, they should schedule a meeting with their direct supervisor to discuss the concern. Most complaints or concerns of interns can be handled informally by speaking with the direct supervisor.

Most often the outcome of such a meeting is an agreement on a plan that satisfies the concern. In some cases, it may be helpful to develop a written document summarizing the details of the agreement or plan to address the concern. A timeframe of up to 14 days should be specified within which the plan should be implemented and concerns allayed.

If the discussion between the intern and supervisor does not resolve the concern or if

after 2 weeks there has been no improvement, the intern should inform the supervisor that the next higher supervisor will be contacted. This may be another psychologist, an agency administrator, or another individual in a supervisory position. The intern is advised to inquire as to the agency guidelines for handling complaints. The human resources department at the agency may help identify the most appropriate individual.

If the concern involves the direct supervisor and the intern is not comfortable speaking with them, the intern is advised to discuss the matters with the Agency Training Director or the NICPP Co-Training Director.

Almost all complaints and concerns can be addressed by the informal collaboration of intern, supervisor, Agency Training Director and, in some cases, the NICPP Co-Training Director. This additional consultation with the Agency Training Director and/or the NICPP Co-Training Director should take no more than an additional 2 weeks.

Step 2

If the intern is not satisfied with informal procedures or the responses received to verbal complaints, a formal grievance should be written to the supervisor. The supervisor will respond in writing within seven calendar days of receiving the written document. The written complaint and supervisor’s response should be copied and sent to the Agency Training Director and to the NICPP Co-Training Director. A meeting among all concerned parties should be held to attempt a resolution. Such a meeting should take place within seven working days of receipt of the supervisor’s written response. The purpose of this meeting is to engage in collaborative problem-solving and make efforts to identify solutions to the concern.

Step 3

If the first two steps have not resulted in a satisfactory resolution, the NICPP Co-Training Director should be asked to convene the NICPP Board of Supervisors or a subset of the Board to develop a plan to resolve the ongoing difficulties. Details of procedures initiated in steps one and two and outcomes of these actions should be specified clearly.

This process will take no more than ten working days. The NICPP Board of Supervisors is the final step in decision making. However, the intern may enlist assistance from the Director of Clinical Training at the intern’s home institution. The Board welcomes such involvement.

## Interns’ Rights during Due Process and Grievance

The intern is entitled to safeguards designed to support and assist them during the Due Process and Grievance process. Specifically, the intern:

* may have a non-participating observer present at any point in the process;
* can ask others to assist in defining or providing more evidence about the concern;
* may ask the Agency Training Director or the NICPP Co-Training Director to attend any problem solving meetings that occur;
* may elect to confer with agency experts in Personnel or Human Resources Departments if the matter pertains to that area;
* may enlist the help of the designated personnel at the agency or at the University of Nebraska-Lincoln if the concern is discrimination or harassment;
* may contact the academic program advisor of the American Psychological Association for advice and counsel;
* has the right to file grievances and to fully use this procedure with no fear of harassment or reprisal. Harassment or reprisal of any kind is in itself a grievous offense.

The NICPP faculty and staff are committed to the education and professional development of interns. Any issue brought to the attention of supervisors, the NICPP Training Director, or NICPP Board of Supervisors will be taken seriously and honest attempts will be made towards its resolution. The APA Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct (2017) will be followed by all participants including the supervisor, Directors, Board, and intern. Confidentiality will be safeguarded to the fullest extent possible.

## Due Process Documentation

Meeting Date:

Meeting Time:

Intern:

Supervisor:

Concern:

Action Plan:

Intern Supervisor

Follow-Up Meeting Date & Time:

Intern Date Supervisor Date

## Due Process Documentation – Follow-Up

Meeting Date:

Meeting Time:

Resolution Summary:

Intern Date Supervisor Date

## NICPP Policy Statement on Interns Who Experience Conflicts Working with Diverse Clients/Patients:

*(Adopted from BEA Virtual Working Group on Restrictions Affecting Diversity Training in Graduate Education. (2015). Preparing professional psychologists to serve a diverse public: A core requirement in doctoral education and training a pedagogical statement.* Training and Education in Professional Psychology, 9*(4), 269–270.* [*https://doi.org/10.1037/tep0000093.)*](https://doi.org/10.1037/tep0000093)

NICPP is committed to a training process that ensures that interns develop the knowledge, skills, and attitudes to work effectively with members of the public who embody intersecting demographics, attitudes, beliefs, and values. When interns’ attitudes, beliefs, or values create tensions that negatively impact the training process or their ability to effectively treat members of the public, the program faculty and supervisors are committed to a developmental training approach to support the acquisition of professional competence. We support interns in finding a belief or value-congruent path that allows them to work in a professionally competent manner with all clients/patients.

For some interns, integrating personal beliefs or values with professional competence and working with all clients/patients may require additional time and faculty support.

Ultimately, all interns must be able to work with any client placed in their care in a beneficial and non injurious manner. Professional competencies are determined by the profession for the benefit and protection of the public; consequently, interns do not have the option to avoid working with particular client populations or refuse to develop professional competencies because of conflicts with their attitudes, beliefs, or values.

The NICPP agencies are committed to providing an inclusive and welcoming environment for all members of our community. Consistent with this principle, NICPP policy requires that supervisors and interns not discriminate on the basis of age, gender, gender identity, race, ethnicity, culture, national origin, religion, sexual orientation, disability, or socioeconomic status in the services provided at the training agencies.

In some cases, tensions may arise for an intern due to differences in beliefs or values with clients. Because the interns will have to navigate these sorts of clinical situations in their future practice careers, the program has a responsibility to prepare interns to do so in a safe and ethical manner. NICPP will respectfully work with interns as they learn how to effectively practice with a broad range of clients. Thus, interns should expect to be assigned clients that may present challenges for them at some point in training. If interns do not feel comfortable or capable of providing competent services to a client due to conflicts with the intern’s beliefs or values, it is the interns' responsibility to bring this issue to the attention of their supervisor.

Because client welfare and safety are always the first priority, decisions about client assignment and reassignment are the responsibility of the faculty/supervisors.

## NICPP Commitment to Multiculturalism and Diversity Competence in Training

As a Board committed to fostering an equitable, just, and inclusive environment for all interns, NICPP commits to do our part to eradicate systemic racism, specifically in the provision of mental health services and training. Action-Based Steps we commit to include:

## Training Director and Administrative Commitment

* Continuously examine our own implicit bias, and commitment to the continuous learning required to enhance cultural competency and responsiveness.
* Increase our ability to serve as effective mentors. This includes making efforts to create safe spaces in which to model effective communication regarding diversity and multiculturalism, and to take sustainable actions to promote change.

oDevelop resources to build multiculturalism and diversity competence in clinical supervision.

oProvide sample self-assessment tools of multicultural competence for clinical supervisor to review and adopt.

* Annually review the existing training curriculum and diversity curriculum within all areas and modalities of training.
* Annually review and update the multicultural practice guidelines and diversity values statement in the training handbook.
* Annually review at the summer board meeting of the role of the NICPP Diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) Committee as well as how feedback and ideas can directly inform and promote changes that will be initiated by the board.
* Continue our commitment to maintaining and enhancing relationships with various organizations, divisions and training programs to promote a better range of representation across areas of diversity among trainees and training staff.

## NICPP Seminars

* Infuse topics of race and equity into all NICPP seminar content.

oRequire intentional readings and discussions related to topics of diversity, equity and inclusion. This may include books, articles, podcasts etc.

oUse the first half hour of the afternoon session of each NICPP seminar to host an open forum or small group discussions to address diversity, equity, and social justice topics in a safe and productive manner.

oProvide examples to highlight the integration of diversity and ethical considerations in all intern case presentations.

oRequire case presentations to explicitly reference both evidence- based treatment modalities and evidence-based therapy relationship adaptations based on culture.

oAgency Training Directors will consult with each NICPP seminar presenter in advance to encourage an intentional focus on diversity and ethical consideration.

## Agency Specific Commitment

* Provide a strategic plan for addressing gaps in training related to topics of diversity and inclusion.
* Promote recurring conversations and training opportunities for training staff and interns during meetings and individual supervision to enhance cultural humility and responsiveness.

**Additional Resources and References**

NICPP interns are advised to consult the following resources:

The Diversity Statement of the Association of Postdoctoral and Psychology Internship Centers (APPIC) <https://www.appic.org/Portals/0/downloads/APPIC_Diversity_Statement.pdf>

**APA Professional Practice Guidelines:** <https://www.apa.org/practice/guidelines>

## APA Inclusive Language Guidelines 2022:

<https://www.apa.org/about/apa/equity-diversity-inclusion/language-guidelines>

## Project Implicit: A Validated Tool to Measure your Degree of Unconscious Bias

<https://implicit.harvard.edu/implicit>

CASE PRESENTATION REQUIREMENTS

The purposes of the case presentations are as follows:

1. Encourage interns to maintain an evidence-based, scientist-practitioner model in everyday clinical work.
2. Practice presentation skills.
3. Improve clinical skills.
4. Respond professionally to questions and feedback.

When presenting their cases, interns will acknowledge the unifying ecological developmental perspective of the NICPP agencies by emphasizing the conditions in a client's environment and setting as a source of change. A case presentation might also target a system or staff and show how changing that system affects an individual client or client outcomes. Presentations will be 17-20 minutes long and presented symposium-style in groups of 3-4, followed by a Q&A period of 20 minutes where all presenters in the group will answer questions from the audience. Both the evaluation form that is completed by NICPP interns and the evaluation form that is completed by NICPP supervisors for each case presentation are included at: https:// unleducation.az1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV\_eyMQWAofslZjp0a

Email presentation slides to the NICPP administrative assistant the Tuesday before the presentation for electronic distribution.

**Presentation Guidelines**

Case presentations will incorporate the following information:

Relevant Client Characteristics: Age, gender identity, grade, sexual identity and orientation, race, ethnicity Critical development in medical history Critical family history Diversity Considerations – ADDRESSING (Age and generational influences, Developmental or other Disability, Religion and spirituality, Ethnic and racial identity, Socioeconomic status, Sexual orientation, Indigenous heritage, National origin, and Gender), and their implications for service delivery and treatment.

Presenting Problem:

Operationally deZne the presenting concern How was the problem assessed? ICD-10 diagnoses

What data were or will be collected (records, direct observation, self-report, parent report, questionnaires, standardized measures, etc.).

Any problems or potential problems with data collection? How were/will these data used to make a clinical decision?

Previous Research:

What is the empirical basis for treatment? Brie\_y discuss research studies and data that support your selected treatment modality **and** therapy relationship factors/adaptations. Provide selected references.

Treatment:

Describe the treatment components (or components that you will utilize).

Was the treatment modality **and** therapy relationship factors/adaptations empirically supported? Treatment integrity – How did you ensure that treatment was actually implemented?

If changes were made in treatment, how were data used to help you make decisions? What were ethical and diversity considerations with this treatment?

Evaluation:

How was (or will) progress (be) evaluated in an objective manner?

Name of Intern Presenting

Topic



**Presentation addressed the following issues:**

Presentation included consideration of culturally responsive service delivery ((considering ADDRESSING, [Age and generational influences, Developmental or other Disability, Religion and spirituality, Ethnic and racial identity, Socioeconomic status, Sexual orientation, Indigenous heritage, National origin, and Gender, for example]) and how culture may impact treatment and outcomes.

Addressed the issues

Did not address the issues

Addressed some of the issues

Presenting Problem:

Operationally deZne the presenting concern. How was the problem assessed? DSM-5 diagnoses?

What data were or will be collected (records, direct observation, self-report, parent report, questionnaires, standardized measures, etc). Any problems or potential problems with data collection? How How were/will these data used to make a clinical decision?

Addressed the issues

Did not address the issues

Addressed some of the issues

Previous Research:

What is the empirical basis for the treatment modality/ies **and** therapy relationship factors/adaptations ? Brie\_y discuss research studies and data that support these. Provide selected references.

Addressed the issues

Did not address the issues

Addressed some of the issues

Treatment:

Describe the treatment components (or components that you will utilize.) Were the treatment modality/ies **and** therapy relationship factors/adaptations empirically supported?

Addressed the issues

Did not address the issues

Addressed some of the issues

How were treatment outcomes evaluation in an objective manner?

Addressed the issues

Did not address the issues

Addressed some of the issues

Professionalism

Dressed professionally, language use, met time requirement

Yes

No

Discussion

Actively participated in group discussion related to treatment topic

Yes

No

Does not apply

non-verbals/gestures, use of Zllers, engagement/interaction with audience, etc.):



Strengths



Growth Areas



Additional Comments



>>

Powered by Qualtrics A